1992

West Valley City Fraternal Order of Police Lodge
#4, a non-profit Utah corporation, and Jim Crowley
v. Dennis Nordfelt, West Valley Chief of Police, and
West Valley Civil Service Commission : Brief of
Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction for the Utah Court of Appeals to hear this appeal is conferred by Utah Code Ann., §78-2a-3(2) (b) (1991).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Did the trial court err in granting defendants' Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss with respect to plaintiff F.O.P. because it based that ruling on erroneous factual findings and incorrect conclusions of law and because it applied the appellate standing test? The trial court's findings of fact that underlie its ruling are reviewed under the "clearly erroneous" standard. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a) (1987); Christensen v. Munns, 812 P.2d 69, 73 (Utah Ct.App. 1991); Horton v. Gem State Mut. of Utah, 794 P.2d 847, 849 (Utah Ct.App. 1990); Mountain States Broadcasting Co. v. Neale, 783 P.2d 551, 553 (Utah Ct.App. 1989). In order to successfully challenge the trial court's findings of fact, plaintiffs must first marshall the evidence supporting the findings and then demonstrate that the findings are nonetheless clearly erroneous. West Valley City v. Magestic, 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah Ct.App. 1991); Christensen v. Munns, 812 P.2d 69, 73 (Utah Ct.App. 1991); Mountain States Broadcasting Co. v. Neale, 783 P.2d 551, 553 (Utah Ct.App. 1989). The trial court's conclusions of law with respect to subject matter jurisdiction are reviewed independently for correctness and no deference is given to the trial court. Rimensburger v. Rimensburger, 190

U.A.R. 48, 48, _____ P.2d _____ (Utah Ct.App. 1992); Lopez v. Career Service Review Board, 188 U.A.R. 19, 20, _____ P.2d _____ (Utah Ct.App. 1992); Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033 (Utah 1989). F.O.P., as an association, had standing to bring this action under Utah Restaurant Association v. Davis County Board of Health, 709 P.2d 1159 (Utah 1985); Society of Professional Journalists v. Bullock, 743 P.2d 1166 (Utah 1987). Assuming, arguendo, that F.O.P. did not meet the traditional standing criteria, F.O.P. should have been granted standing under the alternative standing tests enunciated in Jenkins v. Swan, 675 P.2d 1145 (Utah 1983); accord, Jenkins v. State, 585 P.2d 442 (Utah 1978); Kennecott Copper Corp. v. Salt Lake County, 702 P.2d 451 (Utah 1985). The appellate standing test does not apply in this case. Society of Professional Journalists v. Bullock, 743 P.2d 1166, 1172 (Utah 1987).

B. Did the trial court err in granting defendants' Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss with respect to plaintiff Crowley because it based that ruling on erroneous factual findings and incorrect conclusions of law? The trial court's findings of fact that underlie its ruling are reviewed under the "clearly erroneous" standard. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a) (1987); Christensen v. Munns, 812 P.2d 69, 73 (Utah Ct.App. 1991); Horton v. Gem State Mut. of Utah, 794 P.2d 847, 849 (Utah Ct.App. 1990); Mountain States Broadcasting v. Neale, 783 P.2d 551, 553 (Utah

Ct.App. 1989). An appellant may demonstrate the clear error of factual findings only after marshalling the evidence that supports the finding. West Valley City v. Majestic, 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah Ct.App. 1991); Christensen v. Munns, 812 P.2d 69, 73 (Utah Ct.App. 1991); Mountain States Broadcasting Co. v. Neale, 783 P.2d 551, 553 (Utah Ct.App. 1989). The trial court's conclusions of law are accorded no deference and are reviewed for correctness. Rimensburger v. Rimensburger, 190 U.A.R. 48, 48, ____ P.2d ____ (Utah Ct.App. 1992); Lopez v. Career Service Board, 188 U.A.R. 19, 20, ____ P.2d ____ (Utah Ct.App. 1992); Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033 (Utah 1989). Crowley has standing in this action because he satisfied the traditional standing test by demonstrating, through the Corrected Amended Complaint and affidavits of record that he suffered a distinct and palpable injury caused by defendants that gave him a personal stake in the outcome of this action. Jenkins v. Swan, 675 P.2d 1145 (Utah 1983).

C. Did the trial court err when it determined that it did not have subject matter jurisdiction over this action and therefore denied plaintiffs' and proposed co-plaintiffs' motion for joinder because it was moot? Joinder of co-plaintiffs in an action is permissive under Utah Rule of Procedure 20 and within the trial court's discretion. Denial of the motion for joinder, as with other discretionary matters is reviewed under an abuse of

discretion standard. Seftel v. Capital City Bank, 767 P.2d 941 (Utah Ct.App. 1989) (indispensable parties under Rule 19); Tolman v. Salt Lake County, 818 P.2d 23 (Utah Ct.App. 1991). Joinder was not a moot issue in this case because plaintiffs had standing and the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction.

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITIES

STATUTES:

Utah Code Ann., §10-3-1002 (1977):

The classified civil service shall consist of all places of employment now existing or hereafter created in or under the police department and the fire department of each city of the first and second class, and the health department in cities of the first class, except the head of the departments, deputy chiefs of the police and fire departments and assistant chiefs of the police department in cities of the first and second class, and the members of the board of health of the departments. No appointments to any of the places of employment constituting the classified civil service in the departments shall be made except according to law and under the rules and regulations of the Civil Service Commission. The head of each of the departments may, and the deputy chiefs of the police and fire departments and assistant chiefs of the police department shall, be appointed from the classified civil service, and upon the expiration of his term or upon the appointment of a successor shall be returned thereto.

Utah Code Ann., §10-3-1003 (1977):

In each city of the first and second class there shall be a civil service commission, consisting of three members appointed by the board of commissioners. Their term of office shall be six years, but they shall be appointed so that the term of office of one member shall expire on the 30th day of June of each even-numbered year. If a vacancy occurs in the civil service commission, it shall be filled by appointment by the board of city commissioners for the unexpired term.

Utah Code Ann., §10-3-1007 (1977):

All applicants for employment in the classified civil service shall be subject to examination, which shall be public, competitive and free. Examinations shall be held at such times and places as the civil service commission shall from time to time determine, and shall be for the purpose of determining the qualifications of applicants for positions. Examinations shall be practical and shall fairly test the fitness in every respect of the persons examined to discharge the duties of the positions to which they seek to be appointed, and shall include tests of physical qualifications and health.

Utah Code Ann., §10-3-1010 (1983):

The civil service commission shall provide for promotion in the classified civil service on the basis of ascertained merit, seniority in service and standing obtained by competitive examination, and shall provide, in all cases where practicable, that vacancies shall be filled by promotion from the members of the next lower rank as submit themselves for the examination and promotion. The civil service commission shall certify to the appointing power the names of not more than five applicants having the highest rating for each promotion.

Utah Code Ann., §52-4-1 (1977): (Please see Addendum for text)
Utah Code Ann., §52-4-3 (1977): (Please see Addendum for text)
Utah Code Ann., §52-4-4 (1977): (Please see Addendum for text)
Utah Code Ann., §52-4-5 (1977): (Please see Addendum for text)

PROCEDURAL RULES:

Rule 20, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (1987): (Please see Addendum for text)

Rule 65B, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (1988): (Please see Addendum for text)

RULES:

Rule I-6, W.V.C.C.S.P.P.M. (1988):

Any proposed amendments, additions or deletions to the West Valley City Civil Service Commission Rules and

Regulations shall be recommended to the Council by the City Manager after being submitted for consideration and adoption by majority vote of the Commission. The Council must disapprove the proposed amendment within 60 days from the date of submission of the proposed amendment, or it is automatically approved.

Rule II-12, W.V.C.C.S.P.P.M. (1988):

All examiners selected by the Commission shall conduct examination under the supervision of the Personnel Officer and in accordance with such methods as the Commission shall prescribe. All examinations shall be impartial, fair and practical, and designed to test the relative qualifications and fitness of applicants to discharge duties of the particular position which they seek to fill. No question in any examination shall relate to the political, racial or religious convictions or affiliations of the applicant.

Rule III-1, W.V.C.C.S.P.P.M. (1988):

The Commission shall provide for promotion in the Civil Service on the basis of ascertained merit, seniority in service and standing obtained by competitive examination, and shall provide, in all cases where practicable, that vacancies shall be filled by promotion from the members of the next lower rank as submit themselves for the examination and promotion. The Commission shall certify to the Chief from an eligibles list the names of not more than 5 applicants having the highest rating for each promotion.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE.

This appeal is taken from the final orders entered by the Honorable Leslie A. Lewis dismissing the action for lack of standing pursuant to the Motion to Dismiss filed by defendants and denying the Motion for Joinder for reasons of mootness.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS.

Plaintiffs/appellants, West Valley City Fraternal Order of Police Lodge No. 4 ("F.O.P.") and Jim Crowley ("Crowley") originally brought this action against defendants/appellees, West Valley Civil Service Merit Commission ("Commission") and Chief Dennis Nordfelt ("Nordfelt"), to set aside the results of the promotion examination process, including the written examination administered on July 20, 1989, utilized by the West Valley City Police Department ("Department") to determine which candidates from the Department would be eligible for promotion to the rank of sergeant. During the course of the proceedings, plaintiffs and additional F.O.P. members, David Shopay ("Shopay") and William Salmon ("Salmon"), filed a joint motion to join the action as co-plaintiffs [R. 216, 217, 330, 333]. Specifically, plaintiffs challenge the Court's Ruling [R. 428-430] and the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Decision and Order [R. 431-437], both entered on March 26, 1992. A handful of pleadings, including the trial court's original ruling, preceeded the March 26, 1992 orders challenged by this appeal; they are, in chronological order:

(a) Court's [Initial] Ruling - signed 11/15/91 [R. 411-413];

(b) Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Decision and Order - submitted by defendants on or about 11/23/91 (does not

appear in Record);

(c) Plaintiffs' Objections to Defendants' Proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Decision and Order - filed by plaintiffs 12/6/91 [R. 422-427];

(d) Defendants' Response to Plaintiffs' Objection to Defendants' Proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Decision and Order - filed by defendants 12/18/92 [R. 414-419];

(e) (Second Draft) Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Decision and Order - submitted by defendants on or about 12/18/91 (does not appear in Record); and

(f) Notice to Submit for Decision - filed by plaintiffs 2/19/92 [R. 420-421].

C. DISPOSITION AT TRIAL COURT:

In the Court's Ruling (R. 428-430] and the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Decision and Order [R. 431-437] the trial court granted defendants Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss based on the conclusion that plaintiffs F.O.P. lacked standing to bring the action and therefore the court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over the action and denied the motion for joinder of additional co-plaintiffs reasoning that, absent subject matter jurisdiction, the motion was moot.

D. STATEMENT OF FACTS:

F.O.P. is and was an association whose membership consisted of police officers and staff employed by the West Valley City

Police Department ("Department") [R. 113, 186, 337]. Crowley and proposed co-plaintiffs, Salmon and Shopay, are and were employed by the Department and were F.O.P. members (R. 113, 331, 334, 337]. A major purpose of F.O.P. is to ensure fair and equal treatment of all lodge members in their employment, including promotions [R. 338].

The Commission is the body appointed pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Ann., §10-3-1003 (1977), and charged with the responsibilities of supplying classified civil service lists to the Department and of administering the merit civil service rules and regulations, as they apply to the Department and its employees, according to Part 10, Chapter 3, Utah Municipal Code (§§10-3-1001, et seq.) [R. 114, 192, 337]. Nordfelt is, and at the time of the events in question was, Chief of the Department [R. 113, 175].

On or about June 6, 1989, Nordfelt, by written memorandum [R. 6-7, 105-106] announced that a promotion examination was to be held to establish a roster from which an immediate opening and future promotions to the position of sergeant would be made [R. 6-7, 105-106, 114].

Approximately one month later, the West Valley City Personnel Office issued a memorandum that, like the June 6, 1989, memorandum, stated only those candidates receiving the top fifteen scores on the written exam would advance to participate

in the "assessment center" portion of the promotion examination [R. 6-7, 8-9, 107-108, 114]. That memorandum also, by implication, indicated that "promotability" was also a part of the promotion examination process and stated that the "assessment center" and "promotability" would each be weighted 40% of the promotion examination and the written examination would be weighted 20% of the promotion examination [R. 9, 108].

Several F.O.P. members, including Crowley, Shopay and Salmon, participated in the promotion examination process and sat for the July 20, 1989 written exam [R. 331, 334, 338]. Of the approximately 40 officers who sat for the written examination, all were F.O.P. members [R. 337].

Although the trial court dismissed this action for lack of standing and did not address the merits of plaintiffs' allegations [R. 429, 436-457], the interjection of a brief summary of plaintiffs' claims may provide a useful backdrop before which additional jurisdictional facts may be presented: Plaintiffs' Corrected Amended Complaint alleged two principal improprieties occurred in the design and administration of the promotion examination and that those improprieties violated provisions of Utah Code Ann., §§10-3-1001 through 1013 (1977, as amended), the Utah Open and Public Meetings Act and provisions of the West Valley City Civil Service Policy and Procedures Manual ("W.V.C.C.S.P.P.M.") [R. 113-118, 331-332, 334-335, 338].

First, plaintiffs alleged that defendants failed to include seniority in service as one of the criteria to be considered in the promotion process, thus violating Utah Code Ann., §10-3-1010 (1983) and its similarly worded counterpart, Rule III-1, W.V.C.C.S.P.P.M. (1988) [R. 6-9, 113-118, 332, 335, 339]. This allegation was initially brought to the attention of the Commission by letter dated August 23, 1989, by Department officers who were also F.O.P. members [R. 10-12, 116, 332, 335, 339]. They requested the Commission to review the promotion evaluation process and declare it invalid [R. 11, 116]. The Commission's rules and regulations did not provide method or means by which Department officers could object to or seek review of improprieties in the promotion examination process [R. 117, 332, 335, 339]. Without conducting a formal hearing or convening a meeting to consider the allegations contained in the officers' August 23, 1989 letter, two Civil Service Commissioners, Guy Kimball and Don Meyers, signed a letter dated October 4, 1989, summarily dismissing the issues raised by the officers [R. 113, 116]. A copy of that October 4, 1989 letter was delivered to an F.O.P. representative on November 2, 1989 [R. 116]. Plaintiffs allege the two Civil Service Commissioners' actions violated Utah Code Ann., §§52-4-1 et seq. (1977, as amended) [R. 116-118, 332, 335, 358]. Second, plaintiffs alleged that defendants illegally

waived the requirement that promotions be made from the next lower rank, thus violating, for a second time, both Utah Code Ann., §10-3-1010 (1983) and Rule III-1, W.V.C.C.S.P.P.M. (1988), requiring, as applied to the Department, promotions to sergeant to be made from the next lower rank, Police Officer II ("P.O. II") [R. 110, 117-118, 293-295, 331-332, 334-335, 338]. The waiver of the next lower rank requirement was initiated by Chief Nordfelt on June 6, 1989, the same date the promotion examination was announced by Nordfelt, by memorandum addressed to the Commission requesting that". . . the restriction in the Civil Service requirements stating that officers applying for the position of Sergeant be of P.O. II rank, be waived." [R. 110, 117, 293-295]. Within the rank and grade system utilized by the Department, the Police Officer I ("P.O. I") rank is lower than the P.O. II rank, and P.O. I officers are thus not eligible for promotion to sergeant [R. 292, 337]. Nordfelt's October 6, 1989 letter was hand-delivered to Guy Kimball, Chairman of the Commission [R. 117, 294]. On or about that same day, Guy Kimball signed the letter and marked it "approved" [R. 110, 117, 294-295]. The next lower rank requirement was thereby waived by a single Commissioner and without the Commission having held a formal hearing or convened a meeting to deliberate the issue [R. 117-118, 294-295, 338]. Thus, officers of P.O. I rank were

improperly allowed to participate in the promotion exam process to the detriment of the candidates of P.O. II rank [R. 117-118, 331, 334, 338]. Plaintiffs allege Chairman Guy Kimball's action violated §52-4-1 et seq. (1977, as amended) and Rule I-6, W.V.C.C.S.P.P.M. (1988) [R. 116-118, 332, 335, 338]. In addition to the two principal improprieties giving rise to this action, plaintiffs made two related claims. They alleged that on or about October 4, 1989, when the two Commissioners, by letter [R. 13], summarily dismissed the officers' complaints, the Commission consisted of only two members, and thus was not legally constituted as required by Utah Code Ann., §10-3-1003 (1977) [R. 117], and they alleged the promotion examination process also violated Utah Code Ann. §10-3-1007 (1977) and Rule II-12 W.V.C.C.S.P.P.M. (1988) because some candidates were not allowed equal access to the study materials [R. 10-13, 117].

Approximately September 2, 1989, a roster was established pursuant to the procedures and weighting set forth in the July 7, 1989 memorandum, and appointments to the position of sergeant were made [R. 8-9, 114, 186].

Crowley had been a Department officer since July, 1980, and had held the P.O. II rank since approximately 1981 [R. 113, 337]. At the time of the 1989 promotion examination he enjoyed nine years' seniority [R. 338]. His seniority was not considered in the promotion examination process [R. 6-9, 338]. Crowley sat for

the written exam portion of the evaluation process but failed, by one point, to achieve one of the top fifteen scores [R. 7, 8-9, 185, 338]. For that reason he was not allowed to participate in the other portion of the process [R. 7, 8-9, 107-108, 114, 185, 338]. Crowley believes he would have been allowed to participate in the other portions of the evaluation process if his seniority had been considered [R. 115-116, 338]. Had Crowley been informed of Nordfelt's request to waive the next lower rank requirement, he would have objected, individually, and on behalf of F.O.P. to the waiver request [R. 110, 116, 338]. Crowley signed the August 23, 1989 letter to the Commission in which several Department officers and F.O.P. members objected to the improprieties that marred the promotion examination [R. 116, 339]. Crowley is entitled to the protections and benefits conferred by the rules and regulations that comprise West Valley City's merit service system and state law [R. 114, 337].

Shopay had been a Department officer since November, 1980 [R. 331]. At the time of the 1989 promotion examination he held the P.O. II rank, had eight years' seniority in the Department and met all other announced requirements [R. 6-7, 331]. His seniority was not considered in the promotion examination process [R. 6-9, 113-118, 331]. Shopay completed the entire promotion examination process and earned a position on the promotion roster [R. 331]. Shopay had more Department seniority than any

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