1992

West Valley Fraternal Order of Police Lodge #4, a  
nonprofit Utah corporation and Jim Crowley v.  
Dennis Nordfelt, West Valley City Chief of Police,  
and West Valley Civil Service Commission : Brief  
of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The FOP clearly cannot meet the second prong of the test, which requires that the action not require the individual participation of members of the association. Courts consistently deny standing where there are conflicts of interest within the association itself. In this case, the trial court correctly found that there were clear conflicts. (R. 411-412, 431-437) This case falls squarely within the example provided by Justice Stewart, when he stated that, ". . . individual participation may be required if conflicts of interest exist between the members of an association." *Society of Professional Journalists*, at 1182. (J. Stewart Dissent.)



The most dramatic example of this conflict lies on the very face of the Complaint itself, where Nordfelt, a dues-paying FOP member in good standing, was made a defendant (Exhibit K). (R. 002, 176, 186) The FOP sued one of its own members and put itself in the absurd position of claiming to be suing in its representative capacity, when it has members as both plaintiffs and defendants in the same case.

Also, the trial court found in finding of fact no. 14 (R. 433) that the FOP was put in a position of deposing its own members as hostile witnesses. (R. 47-48, 50-51, 59-62, 92-93, 175-176, 178, 186, 189) The testing process which is being disputed was formulated and administered by members of the FOP. (R. 178, 189) (Finding of fact No. 12, R. 433) The allegations of improper actions during the testing process necessarily means that the FOP is alleging that it was wronged by its own members who approved and administered the test. Those officers, Defendant Chief Nordfelt, who approved the test, and Assistant Chief J. Steven Shreeve and Lieutenant Larry L. Moody, who formulated and administered the Sergeant's test, were deposed by the FOP. (R. 59-60, 92-93, 178, 189) Even the FOP recognized the conflict by refusing to provide Shreeve and Moody with legal counsel during the depositions (R. 178, 189), and, in the case of Shreeve, specifically telling him that it would not provide him with legal counsel at the deposition due to a "conflict of interest." (R. 189) Both Shreeve and Moody are dues-paying FOP members in good standing (Exhibits H and I). (R. 178, 186, 189)

Also, if the FOP is successful in nullifying the 1989 Sergeant's test and resulting promotions, the result would be dramatic, adverse consequences to certain individual members of the FOP association. FOP members Charles Illsley, Guy Dodge and Craig Gibson were promoted to the rank of Sergeant as a result of the 1989 test. The trial court found, in finding of fact no. 13, that the FOP members will lose rank, pay and benefits if the FOP successfully nullifies the promotions. All three individuals are dues-paying members of the FOP (Exhibits L and M). (R. 181, 183, 186) Finally, the FOP has produced no evidence that would indicate that, if it is not granted standing, the issues are not likely to be raised at all or that the issues are so unique and important that an exception should be made to the standing test. To the contrary, there are obviously other Plaintiffs (Crowley) and potential Plaintiffs (Salmon and Shopay) who are willing to take action.

An association with internal conflicts of interest simply cannot meet the standing test. The trial court correctly found that the FOP failed the second prong of the association standing test, since there are serious, obvious conflicts of interest within the FOP and it cannot act for the benefit or common good of all of its members. The FOP lacks standing both on the face of the Complaint itself and upon the facts of the case as found by the trial court.

#### POINT IV

APPELLANT CROWLEY SUFFERED NO INJURY, AND,  
THEREFORE, DOES NOT HAVE STANDING TO BRING  
THIS ACTION AS AN INDIVIDUAL.

In order to carry his burden of proof that he had the necessary standing to bring this action, Appellant Crowley had to provide the court with evidence demonstrating that he has suffered a distinct and palpable injury that gives him a personal stake in the outcome of the legal dispute. *Jenkins v. Swan*, 675 P.2d 1145 (Utah 1983); *Wade v. Burke*, 800 P.2d 1106 (Utah App. 1990). Also, there must be a causal relationship between any injury to Crowley and the actions of Nordfelt and the Civil Service Commission.

The Utah Supreme Court discussed the standing test at length in the *Jenkins* case, and stated:

. . . this Court will not readily relieve a plaintiff of the salutary [sic] requirement of showing a real and personal interest in the dispute. . . . the inquiry will be directed to the traditional criteria of the plaintiff's personal stake in the controversy. One who is adversely affected by governmental actions has standing under this criterion. One who is not adversely affected has no standing. A mere allegation of an adverse impact is not sufficient. There must also be some causal relationship alleged between the injury to the plaintiff, the governmental actions and the relief requested.

*Jenkins*, at 1150.

This test requires an injury particular to the plaintiff by virtue of the claimed wrong, not a general injury. Absent a claim of specific injury related to the alleged illegal activity, this standing test has not been met. *Jenkins*, at 1151.

The 12(b)(1) Motion to Dismiss brought by Nordfelt and the Civil Service Commission attacked Crowley's standing both on the face of the Complaint and factually. The Complaint and the Amended Complaints are devoid of any allegations that Crowley received a particularized injury, or that any injury was caused by the actions of Nordfelt and the Civil Service Commission. (R. 2-14, 73-77, 113-118) Therefore, the trial court correctly found that the Complaint, on its face, failed to establish Crowley's standing to sue. (R. 411-412, 431-437)

Crowley's standing was also attacked factually. The facts, as found by the trial court, support a finding that Crowley cannot satisfy either factor required in *Jenkins*. Crowley took the 1989 Sergeant's promotional written examination, which required a minimum score of 75 percent to advance to the next level of testing. (R. 006, 186) As Crowley admits in his Second Affidavit, he failed to reach the required score of 75 percent on the written section of the examination, and, therefore, did not proceed further in the testing and was not listed on the promotional roster. (R. 338) He has not alleged, nor is it conceivable, how he suffered a particularized injury in this case. Even if the court assumes that Crowley suffered an injury in failing the test, it is clear that there is no causal relationship between any injury he may have suffered and any alleged improper action by the Commission or Nordfelt. Crowley's failure on the written examination was solely the result of his personal knowledge, ability and effort in taking the examination. Even if the actions complained of in the

Complaint were true, none of those actions affected Crowley's performance on the written test. The alleged improper actions by Nordfelt and the Civil Service Commission did not and could not affect Crowley's test score one iota.

In his brief, Crowley makes two arguments to assert his standing. First, in the face of overwhelming evidence, including his own Affidavit, he makes the allegation that there was no minimum passing score on the written examination. As was demonstrated earlier on pages 24 and 25 of this brief, that argument simply has no factual support.

Crowley's second argument is based upon the notion that he has standing because he is a member of a class which has an interest in the proper administration of the Civil Service Rules. He then relies on a non-standing case, *Hayward v. Pennock*, 444 P.2d 59 (Utah 1968), to advance the rationale that all officers have an interest in proper administration of the Civil Service Rules. In fact, *Hayward* recognizes, in the quote provided by Plaintiffs, that this is an interest shared by both "employees and the public." *Hayward*, at 60. This type of general interest or grievance cannot form the basis for standing before the court.

An attempt to confer standing by merely having a general interest common to the public or a class of individuals is exactly the type of case that the "distinct and palpable injury" test is designed to screen out. The United States Supreme Court has held that:

Petitioners must allege and show that they personally have been injured, not that injury

has been suffered by other, unidentified members of the class to which they belong and which they purport to represent. Unless these petitioners can thus demonstrate the requisite case or controversy between themselves personally and respondents, "none may seek relief on behalf of himself or any other member of the class."

*Warth*, at 502 (emphasis added).

The *Warth* court also stated that:

. . . the Court has held that when the asserted harm is a "generalized grievance" shared in substantially equal measure by all or a large class of citizens, that harm alone normally does not warrant exercise of jurisdiction.

*Warth*, at 499. In *Schlesinger v. Reservists to Stop the War*, 418 U.S. 208, 41 L.Ed.2d 706, 94 S. Ct. 2925 (1974), the Supreme Court expressed its reluctance to entertain "generalized grievances about the conduct of Government," and also, in defining the type of injury required to establish standing, stated flatly that, "Abstract injury is not enough." *Schlesinger*, 418 U.S., at 220.

The Utah Supreme Court also rejected the generalized grievance argument and held that it is generally insufficient for the plaintiff to assert a general interest. *Jenkins*, at 1149. The Court has also stated that, ". . . this Court will not lightly dispense with the requirement that a litigant have a personal stake in the outcome of a specific dispute." *Terracor v. Utah Board of State Lands*, 716 P.2d 796 (Utah 1986). Also, conclusory allegations which are not supported by specific facts which show injury do not meet the standing test. *York v. Unqualified Washington County Elected Officials*, 714 P.2d 679 (Utah 1986).

Finally, Crowley has produced no evidence that would indicate that if he is not granted standing, then these issues will not be raised or that the issues are so unique and important that an exception to the standing test should be made. Obviously, there are other Plaintiffs (FOP) and potential Plaintiffs (Salmon and Shopay) who are willing to take action. Crowley's contention that he meets the exception criteria of the *Jenkins* case is not well founded or supported.

Crowley failed to carry his burden of providing the trial court with facts which form a basis for his standing before the court. Furthermore, such facts simply do not exist. The trial court correctly found that both on the face of the Complaint and upon the facts, as investigated and found by the trial court, Crowley did not have standing to bring this action.

#### POINT V

#### **THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN APPLYING THE EXTRAORDINARY WRIT STANDING TEST.**

The Complaint filed by the FOP and Crowley is clearly in the nature of the now abolished writ of *mandamus*. It asked the court to order a lower board, the Civil Service Commission, and a public officer, the Police Chief, to take certain actions. Rule 65B of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (1988) (Exhibit D) provides that there shall be no special forms of writ such as writs of *mandamus*. Rule 65B provides a remedy to replace the writ of *mandamus*, and specifies that it shall be commenced by complaint. Courts have traditionally treated appeals from decisions of civil service commissions as being governed by Rule 65B. For example, *Lee v.*

*Provo City Civil Service Commission*, 582 P.2d 485 (Utah 1978); *Child v. Salt Lake City Civil Service Commission*, 575 P.2d 195 (Utah 1978). The trial court correctly applied the extraordinary writ standing test as an alternative standing test, and determined that the FOP and Crowley could not meet the minimum standing requirements.

The Utah Supreme Court has determined that the standing requirements necessary to obtain review of a lower board decision under Rule 65B are the following:

1. The plaintiff has standing before the lower body.
2. A ruling by the lower body was adverse to the plaintiff.
3. The plaintiff presented the claim to the lower body.

The court stated that if a plaintiff fails to establish any one of those requirements, the Rule 65B claim will not be considered. *Society of Professional Journalists*, at 1172.

Based upon the findings and conclusions discussed earlier in this brief, Appellant FOP cannot meet the first two prongs of this test. If the FOP has no standing to appear before the trial court as a plaintiff, it follows that it would have not standing to appear before the Appellee Civil Service Commission. Also, the ruling of the Commission was not adverse to the FOP. Some members of the FOP association, those promoted or high on the roster, were not adversely affected by rulings of the Commission. However, it is the third prong of the test which the FOP obviously cannot meet. The trial court correctly found that the FOP had not presented its claim to the Commission. (Finding of fact no. 11; R. 433) The



only evidence presented to the trial court on this issue supported that finding. Also, the Supreme Court has denied standing to a party on an appeal because the party failed to take action at the administrative level. *S & G v. Morgan*, 797 P.2d 1086 (Utah 1990).

Appellant Crowley also fails to meet the *Society of Professional Journalists'* Rule 65B test. Crowley does not meet the first or second prongs of the test. Based upon the same rationale set forth above regarding his individual jurisdiction before this Court, Crowley also lacks standing to proceed before the Commission. He simply did not suffer a particularized injury as a result of the Commission's or Police Chief's actions. Also, as set forth above, the rulings of the Commission were not adverse to Crowley. Neither the Commission nor the Chief in any way affected Crowley's performance on the written examination.

#### POINT VI

#### **APPEAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF SALMON AND SHOPAY'S MOTION FOR JOINDER IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT, AND SAID MOTION WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED BY THE TRIAL COURT.**

This Court cannot consider the trial court's denial of William Salmon and David Shopay's Motion for Joinder, since Salmon and Shopay are not parties to this appeal. Standing to prosecute an appeal must be based upon an interest in the trial court's decision which is "direct, immediate and substantial." *Creamer v. Bucy*, 700 P.2d 668, 670 (Okla. App. 1985). The only parties below which chose to file an appeal were the FOP and Crowley (R. 439-440), and they have no standing to assert the rights of other parties who choose not to file an appeal.

It is clear that an appellant cannot prosecute an appeal on an issue which is not adverse to the appellant. *Utility Contractors Association of New Jersey, Inc. v. Toops*, 507 F.2d 83, 86 (3rd Cir. 1974); *International Brother of Teamsters, Chaffeurs, Stablemen and Helpers of America, Local Union No. 523, of Tulsa, Oklahoma, v. Keystone Freight Lines, Inc.*, 123 F.2d 326 (10th Cir. 1941). As the Supreme Court has stated, "Only parties to a decree can appeal. If a party to the suit is in no manner affected by what is decreed, he cannot be said to be a party to the decree." *Farmers' Loan and Trust Co.*, 106 U.S. 265, 269 (1882). Whether or not Salmon and Shopay are joined as parties in this case has absolutely no affect upon the Court's decision as to whether or not the FOP and Crowley have standing. There are few cases upon this procedural issue and no Utah cases, but the rationale is clear. As the Third Circuit stated in the *Utility Contractors* case, "This small point of appellate procedure has not often been litigated, probably because it is so elementary." *Utility Contractors*, at 85.

Assuming *arguendo*, that the court determines it is proper to rule upon the propriety of the trial court's denial of Salmon and Shopay's Motion for Joinder, it is clear that the trial court's decision was correct. First, the cases establish that standing is an issue which directly affects the subject matter jurisdiction of a court to hear a lawsuit. *Heath Techna Corporation v. Sound Systems International*, 588 P.2d 169, 170 (Utah 1978). If the trial court finds that the original plaintiff does not have standing, then dismissal of the case is the only action available to the

court. Rule 12(h)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure clearly mandates that whenever it appears that a court does not have subject matter jurisdiction, then, ". . . the court shall dismiss the action." (Exhibit C.) (Emphasis added.) Also, the cases are clear that when a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, its authority extends no further than to dismiss the action. *Deschenes v. King County*, 521 P.2d 1181 (Wash. 1974); *Minter-Wilson Drilling Company, Inc. v. Randall*, 675 P.2d 365 (Kan. 1984).

Perhaps the most concise statement regarding this area of law was made by the Supreme Court of Wyoming in *Matter of Contempt Order (Anderson)*, 765 P.2d 933 (Wyo. 1988), when the court stated:

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